James Madison University JMU Scholarly Commons

Senior Honors Projects, 2010-current

Honors College

Spring 2019

Teaching empathy: Examining the relationship between state political environment and social studies curriculum

Norman Morris Ellis III

Follow this and additional works at: https://commons.lib.jmu.edu/honors201019 Part of the <u>Education Policy Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Ellis, Norman Morris III, "Teaching empathy: Examining the relationship between state political environment and social studies curriculum" (2019). *Senior Honors Projects, 2010-current.* 668. https://commons.lib.jmu.edu/honors201019/668

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Honors College at JMU Scholarly Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Senior Honors Projects, 2010-current by an authorized administrator of JMU Scholarly Commons. For more information, please contact dc admin@jmu.edu.

Teaching Empathy: Examining the Relationship

between State Political Environment and Social Studies Curriculum

An Honors College Project Presented to

the Faculty of the Undergraduate

College of Arts and Letters

James Madison University

by Norman Morris Ellis III

May 2019

Accepted by the faculty of the Department of Political Science, James Madison University, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Honors College.

FACULTY COMMITTEE:

Project Advisor: Amanda J. Cleveland Teye, Ph.D., Associate Professor, Political Science

Reader: Liliokanaio Peaslee, Ph.D., Associate Professor, Political Science

Reader: Chris R. Colocousis, Ph.D., Associate Professor, Sociology

HONORS COLLEGE APPROVAL:

Bradley R. Newcomer, Ph.D., Dean, Honors College

PUBLIC PRESENTATION

This work is accepted for presentation, in part or in full, at Madison Union on April 25, 2019.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	i
Abstract	ii
Introduction	1
Political Divide and a Climate of Hate in America	1
Teaching in a Time of Discord	13
Benefits of the Promotion of Diverse Cultural Values and Experiences in Schools	15
Methodology	25
Rationale	25
Hypotheses	25
Research Design and Data	26
Results	33
Data Analysis Plan	33
Descriptive Statistics	33
Findings	41
Testing for Confounding Variables	43
Discussion	46
Limitations of the Study	46
Conclusions	49
References	51

Acknowledgements

Thank you to all my friends, colleagues, and staff members who gave me their time and energy to help bring this project to completion. A special thank you goes to Dr. Teye, Dr. Peaslee, Dr. Colocousis, and Dr. Lee for mentoring, guiding, and supporting me throughout this process.

Abstract

In the age of partisan divide in America, education plays a pivotal role in overcoming social and political barriers—bridging these divides by creating a shared understanding of core values and beliefs that promote the tolerance and acceptance of the diversity of others and the recognition of the inequities that exist in society. Although there are number of factors that have contributed to our nation's division, this paper specifically investigates how public education might play a role in mitigating social and political tension, and the political factors that might facilitate or hinder the implementation of valuable curriculum goals. The purpose of this paper is to examine state political factors to determine if there are associations between the political division or homogeneity of a state-or the dominant political party in a state-and its statutes and laws pertaining to social studies curriculum that promote civic engagement, civil discourse, and diverse cultural values (multiculturalism and social inequality). Data were gathered from blank sources and collated in a single database, which allowed for nonparametric correlation analyses to determine association. A binomial logistic regression analysis was conducted to ascertain the effects of political culture, population size, and median household income on statistically significant variables. Despite most states having majority-Democratic populations in terms of voter registration, there are Republican majorities in most state legislatures. All states mention civic engagement in their statutes related to social studies curriculum, but only nine mention ideas regarding social inequality. Majority-Democratic states appeared to be associated with the promotion of diverse cultural values in social studies curriculum. Majority-Democratic state legislatures were associated with a greater likelihood of promoting social inequality. State legislatures that were more divided appeared to have an association with a greater likelihood of promoting civil discourse. Increasing population sizes were associated with an increased likelihood of promoting civil discourse curriculum goals as well. Although the factors that contribute to our nation's partisanship and lack of understanding extend beyond what we learn in the classrooms, examining certain political and social factors of a state might give us some insight into how party values and political factors might influence curriculum goals.

Keywords: civic engagement; civics; culture; discord; education policy; empathy; partisanship; politics; social studies

Introduction

Political Divide and a Climate of Hate in America

Social and political division in the United States has been on the rise, and more people living within the nation's borders are taking notice. In a major study, the Pew Research Center found that, even before the politically-rancorous 2016 general election campaigns, the American public has grown more partisan. In 2015, 53% of Republicans or Republican-leaning Independents held consistently conservative ideologies and 60% of Democrats or Democraticleaning Independents held consistently liberal ideologies, and this trend has been steadily increasing (Balz 2016; Kiley 2017; Pew Research Center 2017).

Pew also found that demographic changes in the United States have reshaped both party coalitions. While both political parties are growing more diverse, better-educated, and less religious, Republicans are doing so at a slower rate than the country as a whole. Those within the Democratic Party are becoming less white, less religious, and better-educated at a faster rate than the nation's population in general and at an even faster rate when compared to the those within the Republican Party (Saad, et al. 2018).

These growing demographic trends within the political parties contribute to social and political tensions. A study found that more than half of white evangelicals believe the nation's declining white population is a negative thing—a group that has been one of the most consistently and reliably conservative for decades (Scott 2018). It is certainly likely that many Republican and evangelical voters support President Donald J. Trump because of some of his policy positions on controversial and politically-divisive issues such as abortion, however, many of his supporters seemingly admire the president for his vitriolic, race-baiting, and divisive rhetoric in which he alienates or disunites his political opponents, critical media outlets, and

minorities people from his typical white, conservative, evangelical base (Justice & Stanley 2016; Gjelten, 2018; Vandermaas-Peeler, et al. 2018; Gallup 2019).

We also see similar rhetoric coming from other elected officials and members of the general public, aided in large part by the advancement in technology with the use of social media and the spread of misinformation. This rancorous rhetoric coming from members of the public, and especially from the President of the United States, is destabilizing the founding principles of our nation and is further disunifying social and political harmony in the country (Rushin & Edwards 2018).

Since the inauguration of Donald Trump, Americans have been involved in thousands of protests. These protests have ranged from backlash against the election of Trump, responses to police brutality against unarmed black people, pro white-nationalist and neo-Nazi rhetoric, gun violence protests, protests for science, women's rights, and much more. Data has shown that, from January 20, 2017 to October of 2017, over 4,000 American protests have taken place, with over 5.4 million attendees having been recorded (Caruso 2017). These political protests, regardless of their intentions or messages, might impress upon the American public the idea that we are still bitterly divided and unwilling to compromise.

It is important, however, not to conflate movements by outraged protestors angered by society's poor treatment of minority groups with movements empowered by hate, bigotry, or the suppression of open, civil discussion. Advocating against the marginalization of women, the youth, immigrants, ethnic minorities, or other vulnerable minority groups in order to achieve societal equality should generally be seen as a noble conviction. It is the way protests are perceived by others, regardless of the nobility of the movement, that can heighten social and political tensions.

The messages and actions of those engaged in nonviolent protests can be perceived as attempts to foster discord by those with competing political values and beliefs. They might come across to some as inherently hateful, egregious, or divisive. One can conclude that many of the impassioned protests from groups in society could have been handled in a more respectful and civil manner. The angry, emotionally-charged rhetoric of a crowd can diminish what is typically a righteous and rational message protestors want to get across—more peaceful protests.

Often times, protestors advocating for the rights of minorities are casted aside for being too crass, obnoxious, or even violent. This tone policing can further marginalize and disempower groups that already lack a strong voice in society. However, it is imperative that, rather than ignoring protesters, regardless of their demeanor, we take the time to listen to what is being said on both sides. This responsibility is especially incumbent on those who are part of majority groups that are well-represented in government and society.

Many movements by groups who are not well-represented by public officials are either ignored or criticized for being too radical by politicians and other members of the public. Certainly, just as a minority groups have been ignored and demeaned in society, some minorities might have also failed to adequately listen to the messages of those in the majority. While it is incumbent on all members of society to remain considerate and respectful towards the viewpoints of others, this process is especially incumbent on those in the majority, given they have adequate representation in government and are unable to experience widespread, systematic discrimination. All voices must be heard within society, but some voices, because of the various policies, behaviors, and practices formed by a history of prejudice and ignorance in this country, will continue to carry less power in the foreseeable future. It is imperative that the American citizenry take into account all the diverse cultural values and experiences that populate the country and help form our ever-changing comprehensive national identity. That being said, it is also important that we recognize the political and social harm done to majority groups by minorities does not equate to the political and social harm done to minority groups by those in the majority. Harm, in any form or fashion should not be condoned. Everyone needs be to be listened to, but it is the duty and responsibility of those in the majority groups to listen to other cultural values and experiences—even if the other side may not always show that same sentiment.

Contributions to National Discord in the United States. Scholars have noted that there has been a decline in larger group loyalties that extend beyond personal identity and a growing emphasis on "personalized politics" in which individually expressive personal action frames displace collective action frames in social movements and protests (Bennett 2012). Scholars argue that collectivity, rather, has been based in frames of personal identity. Identity politics is a term that has frequently been thrown around in the socio-political field in recent years. This term has historically been criticized by political liberals and conservatives alike due to its exclusive nature—the criticism being that identify politics enforces exclusion by leaving out those who are not a part of the group from discussion.

Identity Politics. Identity politics is defined in several different ways. It is widely used throughout the social and political sciences and the humanities to address a number of political phenomena including multiculturalism, women's rights movements, LGBTQ+ movements, civil rights movements, nationalist movements and other forms of activism and exclusive political alliances based on particular social groups (Bernstein 2005). Identity politics is criticized by some scholars. They claim marginalized groups splinter into narrower, exclusive categories that

leave no space for others to participate in discussion and sociopolitical discourse. Some politically-conservative critics use the idea of multiculturalism as a synonym for "identity politics" in their criticisms, citing it as a cause of fragmentation in society. They claim that programs and emphases on particular racial, ethnic, and sexual orientation groups can balkanize America and threaten Western culture and civilization (Von Blum 2013). Even among audiences inclined to favor civil rights and progressive anti-discrimination measures, some people have expressed concern and anxiety about putting greater emphasis on racial or ethnic issues.

Some scholars have come to the defense of identity politics—to many, it helps to organize marginalized groups into a coalition that can combat unequal power structures. Some scholars argue that that, as a culture, we need to support identity-based organizing if we are to address the ongoing, dismal realities of racial exclusion and overt and institutional discrimination against historically oppressed populations (Von Blum 2013). Other scholars argue that the problem is not in the actions and desires of marginalized groups but, rather, in the continued ascension of privileged groups consistently reasserting both their interests and their universality (Walters 2018).

Facets of Sociocultural Division. Throughout the literature there appears to be three distinct facets of U.S. sociocultural division that have fragmented society and have been the basis for division and discord in the United States: the notion of perceived race and foreignness, religion, and socioeconomic status. These distinct facets of sociocultural divisions in the U.S. can influence one another and are interconnected— with the intersection between race and socioeconomic status shaping individual experience and public perception (Foster 2008). The lack of understanding between the various labels in each of these three sociocultural groups, and as intersectional subgroups, have helped to shape the social and political divisions we see in the

country today. These groups are not an exhaustive list of the various facets that have shaped tensions between those living in the US. Other factors might involve geography, region, or political culture, but many of these factors are interconnected, and race, religion, and class appeared most in the literature regarding national discord in the US.

The U.S. has had an enduring issue of discrimination based on one's perceived race or foreignness. From the birth of the nation until the mid-20th century, the prevailing societal beliefs and attitudes about non-dominant ethnic groups, their status, and how they should be incorporated into the U.S. was that of the legitimacy of racial domination and a belief in white supremacy (Nkomo & Hoobler 2014). Recently, the country has seen a large amount of publicized tensions between the white European majority in America and minority ethnicities mainly black Americans and Latino Americans. Disputes between black and Latino Americans and white Americans (typically white law enforcement officers) have been largely publicized due to the increased use of social media (Bonilla 2015). These challenges have led to the activist movement "Black Lives Matter," which has challenged police officers killing unarmed black people in America but has also been heavily criticized for encouraging violent protests (Rickford 2016). It is quite possible that police brutality and racial bias against black Americans has not necessarily been increasing in recent years, but rather, they might just be covered more frequently by major news outlets and highly publicized, documented, and challenged on social media platforms.

Tension between the white majority and minorities in the U.S. also seem to stem from actions the government takes in order to "make up" for the disparities ethnic minorities experience due to the blatantly racist practices the government and the public participated in before the present day. In contemporary society, blatant racism has, for the most part, been replaced by disparities in income, housing, education, incarceration, and healthcare—de facto segregation (Gonino 2017). Recent studies have found that white people tended to be less supportive of race-based policies aimed to improve the lives of black Americans than black Americans are. Many scholars have noted the "racialization" of certain welfare programs and policies such as affirmative action (Quadagno 1994; Martin 1999). Americans tend to form opinions about welfare based on negative stereotypes about black Americans and the general discourse surrounding these policies become inseparable from the racial groups and stereotypes associated with them, and there is a growing worry that these negative attitudes could extend to Latino Americans who benefit from welfare programs as well (Hussey & Merkowitz 2013).

Another facet of sociocultural divisions regarding race and perceived foreignness is the conflict surrounding the incorporation of diverse cultures into American society. Multiculturalism, in its essence, is grounded in the cultural-relativist idea that all cultures are essentially equal—no single culture is better or worse than any other and, as a society, we should not try to enforce the cultural norms, values, and attitudes on to others, and we should try to coexist in society (Harrison 2008). This can certainly create issues when a society like the U.S. wants to recognize diverse cultures while also trying to facilitate progress toward democratic governance, social justice, and other prevailing attitudes of Western society that might conflict with other cultural values and beliefs. National policies of multiculturalism are pursued through measures such as supporting diverse communities and cultural activities, monitoring diversity in employment, and tailoring public services to accommodate cultural differences in values, language, and social customs (Nkomo & Hoobler 2014).

The rapidly changing demographic makeup of U.S. citizens can conflict with the desire for cultural homogeneity of society from elites and those in positions of privilege—those with special rights, immunities, or advantages—who want to maintain the status quo or impose onto others what they believe is the way ideal way to live in a society. Many Americans may fear the loss of a national American identity. Many of the arguments against multiculturalism and the nation's embrace of foreigners emphasize the costs of accommodating immigrants and foreigners, the benefits of having them adopt the prevailing culture of the majority, as well as other economic, security, educational, and environmental concerns (Harrison 2008; Citrin, et al. 2012).

Religion is an area of division in the U.S. that receives less attention in the literature. This is likely because many Americans may not perceive the U.S. as a religiously divided nation. A recent study found that Americans are less likely to perceive divisiveness in the country based on religion than they are to perceive divisions based on race, socioeconomic status, or politics. 93% of Americans believe America is divided along racial lines, 96% see divisions along economic lines, and 97% say the country is divided along political lines, however, only 72% of Americans say the country is divided along religious lines (Campbell & Putnam 2011). While some scholars have argued that the U.S. is a fairly diverse yet tolerant nation in regard to the various religious practices in the country, others have argued a case for theological exclusivism. America, to many, is seen as a Christian nation, and there have been negative attitudes toward the incorporation of non-Christian religions in the US—particularly Islam and Hinduism (Merino 2010). Regardless of the perceptions of divisiveness based on religion in the U.S., it continues to play a large role in national discord and in the nation's policy decisions.

The use of religious rhetoric by politicians in order to appeal to citizens is widespread in the US and has been shown to be a successful political motivator for certain religious groups (Sherkat 2014; Jennings 2016). Religion has also been shown to have a substantial impact on political polarization in the US—characterized by creating more ideologically similar parties within a two-party system and having increased distrust and disdain for those on the other end of the political spectrum. In an analysis of the recent midterm elections in 2018, the Pew Research Center found that there was considerable continuity in the voting patterns of several religious groups. White evangelicals or born-again Christians tended to support Republican candidates for the U.S. House of Representatives at almost 80%. Religiously unaffiliated voters and Jewish voters backed Democratic candidates for the House at about 70 and 80%, respectively (Sciupac & Smith 2018). There are obvious connections between religion and politics for certain key religious groups in the US, and there is strong reason to believe that religious spheres, in shaping politics, can contribute to polarization and national discord.

Much of the research relating to socioeconomic tensions focuses on the attributions people believe lead to poverty. Socioeconomic tensions can become exacerbated by growing income inequality. Studies have found that Americans tend to believe there are multiple determinants of poverty but most Americans—mainly white Americans—scrutinize the internal, individualistic attributes of a person. Many Americans believe low intelligence, drug addiction, and lack of motivation are a greater determinant of poverty than external or environmental factors, such as systematic discrimination or attending underperforming schools (Cozzarelli, et al. 2001; Hopkins 2009). Many scholars believe that, since Americans generally believe anyone can work their way out of poverty with the help of a strong work ethic and unwavering determination, most Americans also see that the poor as people who have failed to put in the work and are, thus, undeserving of welfare benefits (Alesina, et al. 2001).

There are disputes in the literature as to whether or not Americans' opinions about welfare are a good indicator of their opinions on poor people in general, since Americans recognize that there can be multiple reasons for a person to become impoverished. Scholars argue that, while negative attitudes towards welfare recipients are apparent, that does not shape attitudes about poor people in general (Prasad 2012) Some scholars have noted that, because the U.S. is generally optimistic in social mobility—moving out of poverty through hard work, we are generally less supportive to redistributive policies such as social transfers (Alesina 2018).

Scholars have also found that Americans' conceptions of the poor tend to be more negative than those of the middle class. Negative conceptions of the poor are shown to be strongly correlated with race. It is well-documented in the literature that it is widely believed by the American public that most black Americans abuse the welfare system. Studies have found that states with large black populations also have adopted less sophisticated, inclusive, and generous welfare programs, replacing them with welfare policies that are very restricted and punitive (Rodgers 2009). Socioeconomic tensions, however, do not just center on prevailing conceptions of those in the poor. Working-class and middle-class families can express grievances based on conceptions of those below the poverty line and of those in the top-onepercent income in net worth. Economic insecurity from those in the working and middle-class can also lead to tensions based on other factors, such as heightened racial and ethnic tensions, especially as it relates to immigration (Helgeson 2016).

Political Division. Much of the way political division plays a role in shaping public discord is addressed in the beginning of the chapter. Stark polarization has been a defining characteristic of U.S. political culture in recent years. In contemporary political culture, Democrats and Republicans are incredibly divided on many societal issues and are unable to find any sort of common ground. Studies have shown that, more than any other social characteristics—including race and religion—the largest partisan gaps between different groups

in America are between party affiliations, and these gaps are only growing larger (Doherty 2017; Pew Research Center 2017).

Not only are Democrats and Republicans in the U.S. unable or unwilling to compromise, but partisan antipathy also remains extensive in American culture. A 2017 study by the Pew Research Center found that, in recent years, 44% of Democrats and those who lean Democratic have a very unfavorable opinion of the Republican Party, and 45% of Republicans and those who lean Republican have a very unfavorable view of the Democratic Party. The same study found that, while conservatives have remained largely the same in terms of policy positions over the past few years, Democrats and Democratic-leaning independents have moved more to the left on issues regarding race and the role of government. Across 10 political values the Pew Research Center has tracked since 1994, there is now an average gap of 36 percentage points between Republicans and those who lean Republican and Democrats and those who lean Democrats. In 1994, it was only 15 points (Doherty 2017; Pew Research Center 2017).

Much of this disconnect between political parties in the U.S. may also be a matter of the basic tenets and philosophies of the major two political parties as they pertain to multiculturalism and diversity. It is generally understood that, while multiculturalism and cultural pluralism is fundamental to the principles of American society, those on the ideological left of the political spectrum tend to be more culturally sensitive or, at least, are more likely to embrace other cultures than those on the ideological right (Deckman 2006; Han 2015; Lee and Coulehan 2006; Rodden 2010; Sprague-Jones 2011). Some scholars have argued that political conservatism and the promotion and support of various distinct political, regional, social, religious, economic, racial, and ethnic cultures are mutually exclusive.

In recent years, politicians primarily on the conservative right have argued that the embrace of diverse cultures constitutes a concerted effort to undermine the national character of democratic countries and to institutionalize the public status of non-Western groups (Johnson 2017). To add to this contrast and reaffirm the divide between the political left and right as it pertains to cultural diversity, much of the literature agrees that those on the left tend to be motivated more by creativity, curiosity, and a diversity of experience, whereas those on the right tend to be motivated more by orderly, parsimonious, rigid structures, as well as self-control, norm attainment, and rule-following (Carney, Jost, Gosling, and Potter 2008).

It is important, however, to recognize that even some on the ideological left reject cultures that do not recognize certain western values and principles such as democracy and equality. Though left-leaning liberals tend to emphasize their belief in cultural pluralism and the ability to express one's culture, they still express views guided by norm-attainment and assimilation. There are certain cultural practices and beliefs that those on the left reject because of their ideas cultivated by a Western-democratic upbringing. Scholars have argued that those on the ideological left generally do not give equal recognition to cultural groups that reject social progressivism and embrace political conservatism and Christian traditionalism (Liu 2006). These values of conservatism and Christian traditionalism are fundamental to the modern Republican Party in the U.S., so, just as the apprehension or outright denial of the embrace of various cultures by right-wing Republicans worsens the political divide in the country, so too does the denial of orthodox conservatism and Christian fundamentalism by left-wing Democrats.

With an understanding that much of the disharmony in society can be attributed to ignorance or outright disdain for other cultural and ethnic groups within society, it is imperative that we find a way to break through these cultural barriers and negative attitudes regarding

redistribution of rights and power by ensuring those within the country are adequately educated about issues surrounding civil rights, social and economic inequality, civic engagement, and other concepts promoting equity, equality, and engaging in empathic behaviors.

Teaching in a Time of Discord

Unfortunately, in contemporary society, educating the public about many of these concepts may likely be seen as liberal indoctrination—as the discussion of sociopolitical concepts such as social justice, civil rights, and economic inequality are typically encouraged in politically-liberal environments and carry negative connotation in politically-conservative ones (Green 2008; Cochran Smith, et al. 2009). It is important that we as a nation reclaim the notions of civil rights and social justice to work to mend the divide between those people in society with and without social, cultural, and economic advantages, and racial privilege. These concepts should not be politically-charged. Engaging with the realities of many of these topics do no harm to society; they can help students become more civically-engaged and teach them about the opportunities awarded to some in society and not to others, and how that might impact their society conception and experience.

These concepts have regrettably succumbed to politicization. In contemporary American society, it has become all too common for acts of civility to be demeaned or mocked for being too "politically correct," acknowledgment of one's political positions based on some social or cultural background is readily criticized, and voices from the less-educated or the poor are promptly silenced or ridiculed. These practices must be stopped if we want to walk down a path of social harmony and political civility.

It is might be difficult to drastically change the worldviews and conceptions of various ethnocultural groups within the nation. Many aged adults in society can no longer be swayed through logical arguments, facts and figures, or even heartfelt, empathetic pleas. From a policy perspective, attempting to address the issue of ignorance of or disregard for other cultural or political groups within the nation by those who have gone through socialization and have been inculcated with various ideas, beliefs, and conceptions of the world is far too unrealistic and idealistic. There is still hope for having a harmonious and united America, however.

Research in social science has found that older people are generally less open to new ideas and exploration than their younger counterparts (Gopnick, et al., 2015). As we grow older, we presumably become more opinionated and biased, having already formed our conceptions of the world. We may find ourselves having less opportunities to grow in a diverse and exploratory environment dedicated to learning about the world around us. Children, however, are much more impressionable and open to new thoughts and ideas, and studies have found that young people have proven be more tolerant towards minority groups and are less likely to hold traditional, orthodox values about (Smith, et al. 2016; Janmaat & Keating 2019). Thus, the most effective way we can educate the public about various concepts surrounding equity and equality in order to instill and increase empathetic behavior is through the public-school system, and social studies and civics classes in secondary schools within these school systems are the ideal settings for such teachings.

Public education has always been an optimal setting to prepare students to become active and engaged citizens in a democratic society. The role of social studies currently and historically has been to help students understand the history and social mores of the country, teach them about the virtues exemplified in various stories of the past and present, and ultimately to help students meet the educational needs of society—emerging at the beginning of the twentieth century as a holistic approach to citizenship education using various social science techniques (Mindes 2005). Scholars have found numerous indications from research that some educational practices and contexts promote the skills, knowledge, and dispositions that support a democratic society, and that schools could be doing more. Scholars agree that civic education can be utilized to promote norms of participation in U.S. government and social trust (Kahne, et al. 2006).

Specific, pedagogical approaches to teaching about diverse cultural value and experiences in schools are beyond the scope of this paper. The following section of this paper, however, examines studies and cases in which the aforementioned curriculum goals are incorporated into social studies classrooms and what students and society can take away from these goals.

Benefits of the Promotion of Diverse Cultural Values and Experiences in Schools

Benefits of Teaching about Inequality. Through an extensive review of literature surrounding the instruction of social and economic inequality in a social studies classroom, many scholars seem to agree that it is important to connect students from various backgrounds and with various experiences. When students learn about suffering and discrimination in society, they may learn to better empathize with the victims, coming to believe that the victims do not deserve the mistreatment they are receiving (Di Meo 2007).

Students are not only better able to empathize with one another, they are able to better understand their emotions and develop personal growth. They can also learn to gain a better understanding of obstacles to social mobility others face and can increase their general knowledge and awareness about inequality. Overall, they can learn to become more accepting and inclusive (Coghlan & Huggins 2004; Blumenfeld 2010; Garoutte & Bobbit-Zeher 2010; Steck, et al. 2011). Many students may develop negative attitudes and feelings towards certain groups of people because of their experiences growing up or the prejudices learned from family members. If students see others as undeserving of the unjust treatment they are experiencing in society, then students may believe it is no longer tenable to hold those negative attitudes toward other groups.

Regarding teaching about victims of discrimination and inequality in classes, and those who have been the discriminators and oppressors in the classroom, there is not a clear consensus. Scholars like Di Meo have a more "cynical" view of American history and argue that the past has a direct impact on the racial discrimination and prejudice that are prevalent in contemporary American society, and that this continued discrimination is signified by increases in hate crimes and civil disturbances. Teaching about systematic and historical inequality in a more frank and cynical manner can come with its consequences. Linda Christensen, a social justice educator, has argued that coming at the issue of historical inequality straight in the classroom can be considered to be "too harsh," leading students to respond very negatively to the topic (Golden & Christensen 2008). Teachers must find a way to teach about the harsh reality of discrimination while also being mindful of how the material they teach can impact the students.

Students in a classroom can become resistant, debilitated, or enraged depending on their social circumstances (Davis 1992). The way teachers teach about inequality needs to be deliberate and intentional. Students must learn to first empathize with victims of injustice in order to inhibit more adverse reactions to the darker side of American history. Some scholars have argued that it is important we talk about "heavier" and "touchier" topics in American history in social studies classrooms so that we are not overlooking grievances voiced by those who have been systematically oppressed, including minorities, women, and the poor, however, it is important teachers do this in a way that adequately balances carefulness and truth (Rogers & Westheimer 2017).

Critics have suggested that teaching about social justice issues is meant to boost a student's self-esteem or to spread "liberal" political ideologies rather than placing an emphasis on learning and education (Cochran Smith, et al. 2009). Most scholars, however, understand that teaching about inequality in the United States is a just thing to do. If taught in a holistic and inclusive manner, inequality education can allow students to reflect on societal norms and values and teach students to support and advocate for the well-being of one another. Students need to be prepared to live and work in a diverse society.

In a recent study by the Southern Poverty Law Center (SPLC), only eight percent of high school seniors were found to have chosen "slavery" as the reason for southern recession from the United States, and almost one half of these students selected "taxes on imported goods," seemingly confusing the U.S. Civil War with the Revolutionary War between America and Great Britain (SPLC 2018; Turner 2018). Many scholars believe schools are failing to teach "hard history," which could potentially lead to students not having an adequate understanding about many of the harsh realities in our nation in the past and the present, and could to students not being able to empathize with the struggles various marginalized groups have gone through and are going through in society.

Some scholars have noted that exploring social justice issues is especially important at a young age is because, at this time in their lives, youth are developing their identities and are less jaded and cynical than their adult co-learners (Taylor & Otinsky 2007). Younger learners are able to examine issues more honestly and can pose and examine questions without being as heavily influenced by society.

The goal of teaching about inequality is for students to better recognize injustices in society and for them to want to take action to do something about it, but it can be difficult for

teachers to address societal oppression given the unequal distribution of economic, social, and political capital in the country (Zajda, et al. 2007). There is an unfortunate dilemma when it comes it teaching about inequality. In our current socio-political environment, while it is more imperative than ever that students learn to understand the many facets of discrimination many have faced based on their various identities, it may be quite difficult for teachers to successfully teach about inequality in the classrooms because we do not have a clear, apolitical understanding of social justice and inequality and because our environment is currently encompassed by rancorous partisanship.

Benefits of Teaching about Multiculturalism. The literature has shown that multicultural education and pedagogical practices can be very effective in teaching students to be more understanding of the background of others within and the outside the classroom. Multicultural education is important, and distinct from teaching about social justice and inequality in that, rather than addressing the egalitarian doctrine that social justice emphasizes or the issues regarding this distribution of justice among different groups, it examines the various social and cultural factors that might lead to unequal or unjust treatment in society and the importance of the embrace of cultural differences. One pedagogical writer, in the context of an art class concluded that by having students draw from their collective culture, they are able to find common ground with their peers and accept each other's ideas with ease (Bradshaw 2016). In this art class study, students were encouraged to share their varying perspectives of the world to develop a more holistic concept of the terms and ideas they discussed in class, and there is no reason these practices should not be found in a social studies classroom, a class that examines various perspectives of historical and contemporary American society. There have been compelling arguments for the education of empathy in classrooms that combines caring, relational pedagogy with cognitive growth and a greater sense of a sociocultural awareness. In classrooms, students have the opportunity to interact with others who may view American society differently than they do. When students are encouraged to engage in discussion in the classroom, they are likely to become more tolerant of other students' political views or perceived issues, more informed, and more interested in politics and civil discourse in general (McAvoy & Hess 2013).

It is clear that a diversity of culture and ideology in schools can be highly beneficial to learning, especially in a social studies context. If pedagogical methods like this can be practiced in art class when students are interpreting the meaning behind art pieces, social studies curriculum could certainly implement these methods in reflecting on the actions, beliefs, sentiments, or zeitgeist of Americans at various points in history and in the present day. Teachers can also draw on various students' perspectives by encouraging open dialogue and civil discourse. Students could potentially gain a more holistic, all-encompassing concept of the historical and modern topics discussed in the classroom.

Along with gaining a more holistic view of varying social studies topics, the literature has found that it is also important that social studies curriculum include more modern, multicultural perspectives in American history—this has been the subject of considerable backlash. Some scholars were especially critical of modern social studies emphasizing multiculturalism. They believe that such a curriculum may have more to do with anthropology or ethnology than history (Ravitch 1998). Many other "traditional" scholars in the field believe that social studies should not necessarily be concerned with how the natural and social world came to be altered and transformed. They believe that cultural understanding can be a noble pursuit, but that it should have no bearing on teaching students how to think historically (Diggins 1996). This sentiment was seen largely during the national history standards movement of the 1990s. The National History Standards have been harshly criticized by some scholars for seemingly wanting to prioritize the appreciation for multiple cultures rather than having students deliberate on the dynamics of American progress and valuing third-world countries over white American history (Nash 1995).

Other authors see the encouragement of multiple cultures in social studies curriculum as a necessity for schools. Some argue that the ever-changing demographics of the nation combined with the undoubtedly high levels of prejudice and discrimination in the country necessitate the need for greater ethnocultural understanding (Di Meo 2007). Many historians and scholars view the increasing variety of cultures in modern American society as a call for greater cultural engagement in the classrooms (Di Meo 2007; Louie 2005; Nye 2007).

Changing demographics have heightened tensions among racially-defined minority groups, as well as between these groups and the dominant white majority (Di Meo 2007). The heightened tensions in the nation highlight the importance of researching influences of prejudice, discrimination, and ethnic conflict, as well as learning how to improve these intercultural relations and attitudes. Some speculate that increased learning about various cultures and communities should decrease the amount of prejudice and discrimination by improving intercultural relations within the United States.

It is imperative that teachers in secondary-school education across all states work to develop empathy within students in order to help them cross what is described as the "cultural gap" to understand the perspectives, actions, and attitudes of those they encounter (Louie 2005). This "cultural gap" is defined in the context of multicultural literature. Any authentic American history textbook is innately multicultural. Leaders of the multicultural education movement are concerned with empowering oppressed people, giving them a voice in a society that has historically suppressed it, by integrating the history and culture of dominated groups into public school curricula and textbooks, not diminish European history (Spring 2012).

Despite the establishment of multicultural education in the language of social studies curricula across various states in the U.S., educators and scholars are seeking the ultimate goals of reducing oppressive actions and ideas such as prejudice, racism, and sexism, as well as equalizing educational opportunity. The large majority of scholars supporting multicultural education emphasize the benefits of perspective-taking in order to become more interconnected and culturally understanding.

Benefits of Teaching about Civil Discourse and Civic Engagement. Having a wide a variety of opinions is necessary for practically any fruitful discussions, especially discussions centered on social and political issues, and the literature is largely in agreement with this idea. Civic engagement encompasses action in which individuals participate in activities of personal and public concern that are both individually life enriching and socially beneficial to the community (Panke & Stephens 2018). Civic engagement is an umbrella term used to describe strategies that connect schools with the public good, including service-learning, volunteerism, community service and engagement, public scholarship, and more (Boyd & Brackmann 2012). Many scholars have also recognized the importance of teaching civic engagement not only for student learning, but also for civic agency—the capacity of individuals to enact positive change in society (Forestier 2015).

An important component of civic engagement is civil discourse. In order for anyone in society to become a competent civically-engaged citizen, they must learn to effectively

participate in civil discourse and dialogue that shares diverse perspectives and brainstorm possible responses (Boyd and Brackmann 2012). Teaching about civic engagement and providing students with information and resources on how to become more civically-engaged can potentially help to combat political apathy in young people, promote the goals of personal and social responsibility, and teach youth the skills necessary to advocate for social political change in a respectful and effective manner.

The primary way schools implement civic engagement is through their curricula. Schools can incorporate community-based service activities by connecting them to learning objectives. This practice is called "service-learning." There have also been more creative strategies to promote civic engagement in the classroom. Some scholars have studied problem-based activities, in which students work to solve complex public policy issues such as balancing the budget and school lunch programs so that they can learn to participate in the policymaking process, evaluate alternatives, have respectful discussions surrounding their ideas, and have an increased commitment for the community rather than themselves (Wukich, et al. 2014).

Civil discourse in the classrooms can be implemented through structured forums focusing on social, political, or economic topics that are impacting students personally or the community as a whole. Civic conversations can also be introduced informally by teachers encouraging discussions and the formulation of logical arguments and by teachers introducing diverse opinions and perspectives (Boyd & Brackmann 2012).

There have been questions posed as to whether not teachers should have an obligation to promote or enhance civic engagement—whether civic engagement should be a goal of schools, but most scholars are in agreement that schools play an important role in the overall development of students as members of society. Many understand that schools have a central purpose in educating youth to take on the mantle of "citizen" and assume roles as contributing members of society (Erickson 2011).

For geographic, cultural, political, and historical reasons, school systems are isolated from one another, not just in terms of location, but in terms of curriculum, especially in social studies education. Public school systems, regulated by the states, can have vastly different goals and curricula for their social studies classes. In order to break down these barriers to understanding diverse cultural values and experiences, school systems must learn to break away from their socially- and politically-homogenous communities.

Alongside opening the minds of students in these social studies courses in terms of cultural awareness, schools also carry the unique responsibility of promoting strong civic engagement practices. A study found that only 26% of Americans can name all three branches of government and voter participation has reached its lowest point since 1996 (Annenberg Public Policy Center 2016; Brown & Shapiro 2018). It is widely-known that young people tend to have the lowest voter turnout when compared to all other age groups. Only about 46% of Millennials (ages 18-35) voted in the 2016 presidential election—compared to 72% of the Silent Generation—people born between the 1920s and 1940s (Khalid 2016). This occurrence should not be accepted if we truly care about the institution of democracy, especially considering that a lack of civic engagement could lead to continued apathy in society as it pertains to the issues experienced by diverse groups across the country.

That said, it might be beneficial to look into the relationship between a state's social and political environment in order to determine if there are, in fact, associations between more progressive social studies curriculum and statutes and the political environment of a state. These findings could provide some insight into what states can do to mitigate social and political

23

tensions in the future through the public education system. By examining what different variables regarding social studies and civics curriculum in different states, taking into account their political environment, we can draw inferences about what can be done in the classrooms to help mitigate social and political tension. Although the factors that contribute to our nation's partisanship and lack of understanding extend beyond what we learn in the classrooms, examining certain political and social factors of a state might give us some insight into what we must teach our children in order to promote diverse values and the factors that might allow us the political opportunity to do so.

Methodology

Rationale

This chapter presents the methods that have been used in this study. The purpose of this study is to determine whether there is a relationship between political divide and the promotion of diverse cultural values in their respective social studies and civics curricula.

My research question is as follows: are there associations between a state's political environment and its statute, administrative code, or curriculum and standards frameworks pertaining to social studies curriculum guidelines that promote the tolerance and acceptance of the diversity of others and the recognition of inequities that exist in society? If so, to what degree might curricula advance certain political ideas, or vice-versa?

It is important to note that there are a large number of factors that can influence the political or social rancor within a state. Time, historical and present circumstances, specific events, and other external environmental factors can all help to shape a politically- or socially-rancorous citizenry or legislature within a state.

Hypotheses

I hypothesize that those states with less political divisiveness and more liberal legislatures and populations will be associated with the promotion of diverse cultural values in their education policy regarding guidelines for social studies and civics.

Given the various sociocultural factors that might impede our ability to empathize with or understand one another, and that might impact national discord, it is predicted:

 H_1 : The degree to which the population a state is politically divided is associated with the inclusion of diverse cultural values in that state's statute, administrative code, or curriculum and standards frameworks regarding social studies and civics.

*H*₂: The to which a state legislature is politically divided is associated with the inclusion of diverse cultural values in that state's statute, administrative code, or curriculum and standards frameworks regarding social studies and civics.

Given that, as it pertains to diversity and multiculturalism, those on the political left tend to be motivated more by creativity, curiosity, and diversity of experience, and those on the right tend to be motivated more by orderly, rigid structures and norm attainment, it is predicted:

 H_3 : A more Democratic state populace is associated with the inclusion of diverse cultural values in their statute, administrative code, or curriculum and standards frameworks regarding social studies and civics.

*H*₄: A more Democratic state legislature is associated with the inclusion of diverse cultural values in their statute, administrative code, or curriculum and standards frameworks regarding social studies and civics.

Research Design and Data

This project is a quantitative study which makes use of nonparametric tests to analyze the association between state-level political environments and the promotion of civic engagement and diverse cultural values in social studies and civics curriculum. Chi-Square tests and Fisher's Exact tests will be used to examine tabular association. To control for a third set of variables, a binomial logistic regression will be used.

Voter registration data in each state is obtained from Gallup, based on 2017 state averages of party affiliation from Gallup Daily tracking. Data for party makeup of state legislatures is obtained from 2017 state and legislative composition measured by the National Conference of State Legislatures (NCSL). Civic education requirement data is obtained from civic education measures in 2018 from the Center for American Progress. A content analysis of a 2016 report from the Education Commission of the States was performed to gather data about the promotion of civic engagement and diverse cultural values in social studies and civics curriculum in K-12 public schools.

Unit of Analysis. Analyzation in the study will take place at the state level. Social studies curriculum is a set by the state—there are no national social studies standards that states have to follow or are recommended to follow, and by examining polarization and partisanship at the state level, we can potentially find good examples of settings in which less partisanship and political polarization correlates with the promotion of civic engagement and diverse cultural values in social studies curriculum.

Dependent variables. The dependent variables in this study are variables I believe highlight a state's promotion of civic engagement and diverse cultural values in their social studies and civics curricula. The dependent variables include data obtained from a content analysis used to measure intentional mentions of four curriculum goals that represent positive potential outcomes of a holistic and successful social studies curriculum. Following this paragraph is a detailed overview the content analysis and each variable derived from the research technique.

Promotion of Civic Engagement and Diverse Cultural Values in Social Studies and Civics Curricula. The first set of variables that are defined are the potential elements of a strong social studies curriculum. These curricular elements are mentioned within state education policy that aim to teach students to be compassionate and informed citizens that recognize and understand diverse cultural values and experiences. A content analysis of state statute, administrative code, or curriculum and standards frameworks was conducted in order to systematically evaluate whether a state makes intentional mentions of five learning outcomes determined to be critical for a social studies curriculum to successfully teach students to become informed and active citizens that recognize and understand diverse cultural values and experiences.

The curriculum goals are as followed: civic engagement, social inequality, multiculturalism, and civil discourse. There were 51 cases of statutes, administrative codes, or curriculum and standards frameworks—all 50 states and the District of Columbia and state education policies were assigned as either containing a learning outcome or not.

Civic engagement, in the context of a social studies curriculum, encompasses the intentional encouragement of actions in which individuals participate in activities of personal and public concern and that have a social benefit to the community. This may include learning about the duties and responsibilities of citizenship, volunteering, and voting, or the importance of informed decision making and collaboration in a society—allowing students to practice and make a habit of citizenship. Many states mentioned the importance of civics education in order to "enable students to become informed, responsible participants" in their communities and to functions as competent and knowledgeable citizens who fulfill their proper duties.

Social inequality includes intentional mentions of the importance of informing students about the reality that certain people or groups in the country have privileges and advantages that others do not based on qualities that they cannot control, any mention of the idea of social justice—advocating for the just treatment of people based on certain social or cultural traits, or both. Examples of content that highlighted this goal of social studies education in state laws include an emphasis on concepts such as "equal rights," "privilege," or "advantage."

Multiculturalism and diversity include intentional mentions of the importance of acknowledging various cultures, races, and ethnicities, particularly those of minority groups, and

examining how these various groups exist or should exist within a dominant social and political culture. Examples of content that highlights this goal in state laws include phrases such as recognizing the "contributions of minority and ethnic groups," recognizing the benefits of diversity for a community, "including the increased range of viewpoints, ideas, customs, and choices available," or the idea that societies are shaped by " beliefs, ideas, and diversity" and the consideration of others groups and experiences when making decisions.

Civil discourse includes intentional mentions of goals for conflict resolution within society, the importance of unity or compromise, or both. Examples of this content in state social studies and civics laws include highlighting ways in which students can "participate effectively in community affairs and the political process" or recognizing processes used to mitigate tensions such as "persuasion, compromise, consensus building and negotiation" in order to allows students to contribute to the resolution of conflicts and differences among their community.

Independent Variables. The independent variables in this study are measurements of state-level party affiliations. I will analyze the differences in party affiliation between citizens in the state and the differences in party affiliation between the elected officials in the state—both groups are a reflection of the dominant political ideology of the state, with distinctions in voter registration in state populations representing the overall political differences of the state and distinctions in party in state legislatures representing political differences in the policymaking arena.

Political Party Representation in State Populations. The first variable is a measure of state party affiliation—the proportion of voters registered as either, Democratic or Republican in

each state and the District of Columbia. The data is a five-level grade—"1" represents a solidly conservative state population and "5" represents a solidly liberal state population.

Political Party Representation in State Legislatures. The next independent variable is a measure of the ratio of party member lawmakers within the state legislature. The data is a five-level grade—"1" represents a Republican supermajority in the state legislature (at least two-thirds of the state legislators are registered Republicans) and "5" represents a Democratic supermajority in the state legislature.

Control Variables. There could be some other confounding variables at work that might prove that there is a spurious correlation between the political makeup of state and diverse cultural values being promoted in a states' social studies and civics curriculum. To ascertain the effects of these variables, a binomial logistic regression analysis will be used. The variables I take into account are the population size of the state, which might correlate with heightened social and political tension, the region that state falls into that might affect its political culture, and the income of state, which might impact a state's ability to attain a higher quality social studies and civics education. In the following paragraphs, I go into more detail about each variable that is controlled for.

State Population Size. The larger the state, the more diverse its population is and, thus, the more likely it is that the state will experience political tensions, social tensions, or both. States with smallest populations might contain more like-minded individuals and, regardless of social studies curriculum, may experience less tension and division.

Population data was obtained from the Annual Estimates of the Resident Population for the United States, Regions, States, and Puerto Rico: April 1, 2010 to July 1, 2016 report by the U.S. Census Bureau. *Political Culture.* The history and location in which a state is situated in can affect its political culture—the attitudes and beliefs broadly shared by a polity about the role and responsibilities of government (Smith & Greenblatt 2015). Three distinct types of migration patterns created three types of state political cultures: moralistic, individualistic, and traditionalistic. Moralistic culture views politics and government as the means of achieving the collective good—includes New England, Upper Midwest, and the Pacific Northwest. Individualistic culture views politics and government as just another way to achieve individual goals—includes Mid-Atlantic region of Pennsylvania, New York, and New Jersey. Traditionalistic culture views politics and government as the means of maintaining the existing social order—includes the Deep South. For this study, I use the three cultural classifications defined by Daniel Elazar, who posited that the U.S. can be divided geographically into these three types of political cultures—which spread with the migratory patterns of immigrants across the country.

State Median Household Income. The median household income of a state could have an impact on or help us understand the educational upbringing of a child in the state. We can assume that states with wealthier average household incomes will be more likely to have a population that had access to better educational opportunities. It is widely understood that the wealthy tend to be more politically engaged than those with less wealth (Hines 2014). Not only do wealthier Americans tend to vote more, but they are more likely to participate in political meetings, volunteer for political organizations, and have more political influence than people with less wealth.

A study done by the Pew Research Center also found wealthier Americans to be more civically participative. Americans with incomes \$75,000 and above and with college degrees

were more likely than Americans with less wealth and without college degrees to report higher activity in civic participation, and as wealth and education decrease, so, too, do reports of activity in civic participation (Bureau of Labor Statistics 2015; Pew Research Center 2016).

Wealth also correlates with a number of other social and demographic features including race, political affiliation, religious participation, age, and gender—which all can affect the values and beliefs of a household. So, the median household income of a state could play a large role in both the development and education of children within the state and the curriculum being advanced by the state.

Wealth data was obtained from the Median Household Income by State: 1984 to 2017 report by the U.S. Census Bureau.

Results

Data Analysis Plan

This section starts with summary statistics and frequencies of the states regarding their political makeup in their populations and legislatures, political culture, population sizes, and median household income. Next, a series of correlation tests were run to examine the association between the political makeup of a state and the promotion of diverse cultural values in state statute, administrative code, or curriculum and standards frameworks regarding social studies and civics curriculum and whether states require students to take a civics course in order to graduate high school. Finally, a binomial logistic regression analysis was run to ascertain the effects of political culture, population size, and median household income on the aforementioned curriculum goals to determine if these variables might confound the relationship between the political environment of a state and its curriculum goals in social studies and civics. Since the population size of the data is so small (50 or 51), a wider confidence interval (90%) is accepted as statistically significant.

Descriptive Statistics

About 34% of states report are reported to have populations with majority-registered Republicans.. 29% of states have a politically-moderate or evenly divided populations, and almost 40% of states are reported to have a population that is mostly registered Democrat. Despite most states having majority-registered Democratic populations in terms of voter registration, there are Republican majorities in most state legislatures (Republicans have a majority in 60% of all state legislative seats—Democrats have majority in 26% of these legislatures). In terms of political culture, there is even divide. 17 states fall under the category of having an individualistic political culture, 17 fall under the category of having a moralistic political culture, and 16 states fall under the category of having a traditionalistic political culture.

Table 1 details the frequencies of state population sizes. Sizes are grouped on a four-point scale ranging from population sizes less than 1,000,000 to population sizes that are greater than 10,000,000. The District of Columbia is included in this table. Tables 1.1 and 1.2 are cross-tabulation tables indicating the correlation between state population size and party affiliation in the states' population as well as the party affiliation in the states' legislatures, respectively.

	Frequency	Valid%	Cumulative%
Less Than 1,000,000	7	0.14	0.14
1,000,000-5,000,000	22	0.43	0.57
5,000,000-10,000,000	13	0.25	0.82
Greater Than 10,000,000	9	0.18	100.00
Total	51	100.00	

Table 1: Frequencies of State Population Size

	Mostly Republican	Evenly Divided	Mostly Democratic	Frequency
Less Than 1,000,000	0.57	0	0.43	7
1,000,000-5,000,000	0.45	0.27	0.27	22
5,000,000-10,000,000	0.15	0.23	0.62	13
Greater Than 10,000,000	0	0.67	0.33	9

Table 1.1: State Population Size and Party Affiliation of State Populous

	Mostly Republican	Evenly Divided	Mostly Democratic	Frequency
Less Than 1,000,000	0.67	0	0.33	6
1,000,000-5,000,000	0.64	0.14	0.23	22
5,000,000-10,000,000	0.46	0.31	0.23	13
Greater Than 10,000,000	0.67	0	0.33	9

Table 1.2: State Population Size and Party Affiliation of State Legislature

Wyoming, Vermont, Alaska, North and South Dakota, and Delaware have the smallest population sizes (Wyoming has the smallest population—estimated to be around 578,000). California has the largest population size, with over 39,000,000 citizens reported. There appears to be a slight association between larger population sizes and more registered Democrats. Only two of the 22 states (including D.C.) with populations above 5,000,000 had voters who mostly registered as Republicans. Only 9 of the 29 states with populations below 5,000,000 had voters who mostly registered as Democrats. Most states with populations above 10,000,000 had evenly divided populations. States with populations below 1,000,000 were either mostly Republican or mostly Democratic in terms of voter registration.

Republicans have a greater number of majorities in the state legislatures than Democrats in all four population groups and comprise most of the majority legislatures in all groups but one (in which they are one state away from having a majority).

Table 2 details the frequencies of state median household incomes. Median household incomes are grouped on a four-point scale ranging from median incomes less than \$50,000 per year and median incomes greater than \$70,000 per year. The District of Columbia is included in this table. Tables 2.1 and 2.2 are cross-tabulation tables indicating the correlation between state

median household incomes and party affiliation in the states' population and party affiliation in

the states' legislatures, respectively.

	Valid Percentage	Cumulative Percentage
Less Than \$50,000 N = 5	10%	10%
\$50,000-\$60,000 N = 21	41%	51%
\$60,000-\$70,000 N = 12	24%	75%
Greater Than \$70,000 N = 13	25%	100%
Total	100%	

Table 2: Frequencies of State Median Household Incomes

Table 2.1: State Median Household Income and Party Affiliation of State Populous

	Mostly Republican N (%)	Evenly Divided N (%)	Mostly Democratic N (%)
Less Than \$50,000 N = 5	2 (40%)	2 (40%)	1 (20%)
\$50,000-\$60,000 N = 21	11 (52%)	8 (38%)	2 (10%)
\$60,000-\$70,000 N = 12	1 (8%)	4 (33%)	7 (58%)
Greater Than \$70,000 N = 13	2 (15%)	1 (8%)	10 (77%)

	Mostly Republican N (%)	Evenly Divided N (%)	Mostly Democratic N (%)
Less Than \$50,000 N = 5	4 (80%)	0	1 (20%)
\$50,000-\$60,000 N = 21	19 (90%)	1 (5%)	1 (5%)
\$60,000-\$70,000 N = 12	5 (42%)	0	7 (58%)
Greater Than \$70,000 N = 12	2 (17%)	6 (50%)	4 (33%)

Table 2.2: State Median Household Income and Party Affiliation of State Legislature

The only states reported to have a median household income of less than \$50,000 are Mississippi, Louisiana, West Virginia, New Mexico, and Arkansas—all southern states and all states with a traditionalistic political culture. Mississippi has the lowest at \$43,441. The lowest three states with median household incomes between \$50,000 and \$60,000 are North Carolina, Alabama, and Kentucky; most other southern, traditionalistic states fall in the bottom half of this category. Of all the areas reported to have a median household income over \$70,000—the highest is Washington, D.C., with a median household income of \$83,382 and Maryland, reporting a median income of \$81,084 in 2017.

States with higher median household incomes are clearly associated with the dominant party affiliation of a state populous. 10 of the 13 states (including D.C.) with median household incomes over \$70,000 have citizens that are mostly registered Democrats. 11 of the 21 states with median household incomes between \$50,000 and \$60,000 have states with citizens that are mostly registered as Republicans—Democrats only have a majority in three in terms voter registration.

Outside of the Northern Virginia, Maryland, D.C. area, the third highest-earning state is Washington, with a reported median household income of \$75,418. Virginia is the only southern state and state with a traditionalistic culture to fall into this category, but we can assume Northern Virginia's distinct political culture from the rest of the state and its proximity to Washington, D.C. is the reason for this disparity from the rest of the southern, traditionalistic states. Most states with a median household income over \$70,000 have an evenly divided legislature.

Despite a Democratic majority among registered voters, Republicans still maintain a sizable majority in state legislatures. 60% of states have either a majority or supermajority Republican legislatures (32% have a supermajority and 28% have a majority). Most states with a Republican majority are southern and traditionalistic. Democrats only have majorities in 13 state legislatures, and only four states contain legislatures with Democratic supermajorities (Hawaii, Maryland, Massachusetts, and Rhode Island). Most states with Democratic majorities are in the Northeast, but they are also spread out to some states in the west and Midwest, as well as Hawaii—all with different political cultures.

Table 3 is a cross-tabulation that provides a summary of the presence of the diverse cultural values in state education policy regarding social studies and civics curriculum by the dominant party affiliation of the states' populations (including Washington D.C.). Table 3.1 provides a similar summary, but for the party makeup in the state legislatures.

	Civic Engagement	Social Inequality N (%)	Multiculturalism N (%)	Civil Discourse N (%)
Majority Republican N = 16	100%	1 (6%)	7 (44%)	3 (19%)
Even Divide N = 15	100%	2 (13%)	8 (53%)	8 (53%)
Majority Democratic N = 20	100%	6 (30%)	15 (75%)	7 (35%)
Significance		0.170ª	0.146 ^a	0.132

Table 3: Presence of Curriculum Goals by Party Affiliation of State Populous

a. Cells with expected counts less than 5; exact significance used *pis statistically significant

Table 3.1: Presence of Curriculum Goals by Party Affiliation of State Legislature

	Civic Engagement	Social Inequality N (%)	Multiculturalism N (%)	Civil Discourse N (%)
Majority Republican N = 30	100%	3 (10%)	15 (50%)	11 (37%)
Even Divide N = 7	100%	0	5 (71%)	3 (42%)
Majority Democratic N = 13	100%	5 (38%)	9 (69%)	3 (23%)
Significance		0.048 ^a *	0.372ª	0.692ª

Tables 4 and 4.1 are cross-tabulations summarizing the presence of curriculum goals

based upon the political homogeneity of the state populace or the state legislature, respectively. A more homogenous population means there is an advantage from the Democratic or Republican party by more than five percentage points, a competitive, evenly divided population means there is, or almost is, an even split between registered Democrats and registered Republicans. In Table 4.1, a more homogenous legislature means over 55 percent of the seats in the state legislature belong to either the Democratic or Republican Party. An evenly divided legislature means there is, or almost is, an even split between Democrats in the legislature and Republicans in the

legislature.

	Civic Engagement	Social Inequality N (%)	Multiculturalism N (%)	Civil Discourse N (%)
More Homogenous Population N = 36	36 (100%)	7 (24%)	22 (61%)	10 (27%)
Evenly Divided Population N = 15	15 (100%)	2 (13%)	8 (53%)	8 (53%)
Significance		0.709ª	0.757ª	0.112ª

 Table 4: Presence of Curriculum Goals by Political Homogeneity of State Populace

Table 4.1: Presence of Curriculum Goals by Political Homogeneity of State Legislature

	Civic Engagement	Social Inequality N (%)	Multiculturalism N (%)	Civil Discourse N (%)
More Homogenous Legislature N = 43	43 (100%)	8 (19%)	24 (56%)	14 (33%)
Evenly Divided Legislature N = 7	7 (100%)	0	5 (71%)	3 (43%)
Significance		0.580ª	0.684ª	0.677ª

All states and the District of Columbia included some mention of civic engagement in their education statute. Social inequality as a learning outcome is present in one state that has a population in which most people are registered Republicans and it is present in six of the 10 states with solidly Democratic populations. It is only present in two of the 15 evenly divided populations. No states with evenly-divided legislatures make mentions of social inequality in their laws regarding social studies and civics education.

14 states make some mention of multiculturalism in their education policy. Multiculturalism as a learning outcome is present in four states with mostly-Republican populations, four evenly divided states, and six stats with mostly-Democratic populations. 18 states mention civil discourse as learning outcome, most of which (eight) are in states with evenly divided populations. Three states with mostly-Republican populations and seven mostly-Democratic populations mention civil discourse as a learning outcome in their laws. Almost half of the states make some mention about considering others when participating in the civic and political environment, with a clear majority of states with a mostly-Democratic population promoting this curriculum goal.

Findings

To test associations, a two-sided Pearson's Chi-Square test was run to determine if there is evidence contradicting the independence of the variables. If, in any of the cross-tabulations, there are data that are very unequally distributed among the cells of the table, resulting in low numbers of the cell counts predicted on the null hypothesis, a two-sided Fisher's Exact Test of independence is run. civic engagement is not included in the following cross-tabulations since it is promoted in all state statute, administrative code, or curriculum and standards frameworks.

It was predicted that a more Democratic state populace is associated with the inclusion of diverse cultural values in their statute, administrative code, or curriculum and standards frameworks regarding social studies and civics (H₃). In Table 3, we found that none of the significance levels for all three curriculum goals were below a p-value of 0.100, however, given the relatively smaller p-values and the adjusted residual values of 1.9 for majority-Democratic states that include social inequality and multiculturalism in their laws regarding social studies education, and given that the adjusted residual value is 1.9 for majority-Republican states that do not have civil discourse in their laws, it appears there might be an association between the dominant political party in a state population and the inclusion of inclusion of diverse cultural

values in that state's statute, administrative code, or curriculum and standards frameworks regarding social studies and civics.

It was predicted that a more Democratic state legislature is associated with the inclusion of diverse cultural values in their statute, administrative code, or curriculum and standards frameworks regarding social studies and civics (H₄). In Table 3.1, we found that we must accept the alternative hypothesis that there is an association between a Democratic state legislature and a higher likelihood of promotion of social inequality in social studies curriculum. There were no significant adjusted residual values.

It was predicted that the degree to which the population of a state is politically divided is associated with the inclusion of diverse cultural values in that state's statute, administrative code, or curriculum and standards frameworks regarding social studies and civics (H₁). In Table 4, we found we must accept the null hypothesis that there is not an association between state population political division and the promotion social inequality and multiculturalism, as curriculum goals. Given the relatively small p-value of 0.112 and the fact that we found the adjusted residual value to be 1.7—indicating that the number of politically divided states that emphasize civil discourse in their curriculum is larger than would be expected if the two variables were independent, it appears there might be an association between the political homogeneity of a state populace and the promotion of civil discourse in its statute, administrative code, or curriculum and standards frameworks.

It was predicted that the degree to which a state legislature is politically divided is associated with the inclusion of diverse cultural values in that state's statute, administrative code, or curriculum and standards frameworks regarding social studies and civics (H₂). In Table 4.1, we found that we must accept the null hypothesis that there is not an association between the variables. The adjusted residual for more politically homogeneous state legislatures that include social inequality, 1.2, is larger than would be expected if the two variables were independent, but it is not a significant value.

Testing for Confounding Variables

Almost all theories about social and political phenomena are bivariate, they argue a single cause and single effect, but social and political reality is multivariate—there are multiple factors that could potentially act as confounding variables in this analysis. The reasons a state may or may not emphasize the importance civil discourse, civic engagement, and the recognition of cultural diversity and disparities as goals for their social studies and civics curriculum can including a number of factors outside of a state's political nature. three state characteristics that might act as confounding variables in this study are tested.

A binomial logistic regression analysis was used to ascertain the effects of political culture, population size, and median household income on the intentional mentions of multiculturalism, social inequality, and civil discourse in state education policy regarding social studies and civics curriculum to predict the probability of the presence these various social studies and civics outcomes in state education policy based on the aforementioned independent variables.

In the first model, the effects of political culture, population size, and median household income on the likelihood of the promotion of civil discourse as a curriculum goal in a state were examined. The logistic regression model was not statistically significant (p > 0.100). The Wald test is used to determine statistical significance for each of the independent variables. From the results of the test, state population size (p = 0.005) added significantly to the model, but median household income and political culture did not add significantly to the model. The model explained 29.3% (Nagelkerke R^2) of the variance in the promotion of civil discourse as a curriculum goal and correctly classified 70% of cases. Increasing population sizes were associated with increased likelihood of promoting civil discourse as curriculum goals. Table 5 details the results of the regression model.

Independent Variables Regression Coefficient		Significance	Odds Ratio
Intercept	-3.066	0.024*	-
Political Culture (1)	0.803	0.335	2.232
Political Culture (2)	-0.133	0.893	0.876
State Population Size	1.120	0.006*	3.064
Median Household Income	-0.066	0.874	0.936

Table 5: Binomial Regression Model: Civil Discourse and Confounding Variables

In the next model, the effects of political culture, population size, and median household income on the likelihood of the promotion of social inequality as a curriculum goal in a state were examined. The logistic regression model was not statistically significant. From the results of the Wald test, state population size, median household income, and political culture did not add significantly to the model. The model explained 12.7% (Nagelkerke R²) of the variance in the promotion of social inequality as a curriculum goal and correctly classified 84% of cases. Table 5.1 details the results of the regression model.

Independent Variables	Regression Coefficient	Significance	Odds Ratio
Intercept	-3.499	0.070*	-
Political Culture (1)	0.411	0.641	1.508
Political Culture (2)	-0.519	0.698	0.595
State Population Size	-0.004	0.992	0.996
Median Household Income	0.641	0.190	1.898

 Table 5.1: Binomial Regression Model: Social Inequality and Confounding Variables

Discussion

Limitations of the Study

This is a preliminary undergraduate study conducted with limited time and resources, and more research is needed to examine the social and political factors that might lead to the promotion of diverse cultural values and experiences in social studies curriculum.

The way in which data was gathered, due to these constraints, inhibited my ability to conduct a more thorough analysis of the association social studies curriculum might have the political environment of a state. Gathering data from opinion polls regarding the social and political environment of a state, for instance, would have been a tremendous help for this study and terms of identifying more accurate measures of discord and tension within a state.

The nature of the statistical study—looking for associations and trends between state political environments and social studies and civics curriculum—came with inherent difficulties. The sample size of the study was difficult to work with. For example, once states were categorized into increasingly specific subgroups, the number of cases became less and less (many times to single digits or a singular state)—necessitating a more extensive look into the individual characteristics and history of each state.

The study was only done over the span of a year. In the paper, there was no examination of specific cases or studies on how students in classrooms that intentionally mentioned civic engagement, civil discourse, or diverse cultural values in their social studies curriculum engaged or behaved in society after graduating high school. Time was an inherent limitation in this study. Many states might have just adopted laws that mentioned civic engagement, civil discourse, or diverse cultural values in their curriculum, and might not have been enough time in between its implementation and its effects. Another inherent limitation of the study is the dynamic nature of a state. State education policy could be influenced by a number of factors, and the current political makeup of a state might have had little to do with the adoption of social studies and civics education policies—so, even if they were influenced by the political makeup of a population or legislature, this might have been missed given that the political nature might have been very volatile or may have changed suddenly from one political extreme to another.

We must also take into account the independent nature of schools. Even if there are state laws that emphasize civic engagement, civil discourse, and diverse cultural values, these concepts still must be taught in the classroom, and it is difficult, if not impossible, to measure how well all schools in a state are implementing these curriculum goals into the classroom, especially given that teachers conduct classes and very different ways and carry with them their own biases.

There is an unfortunate lack of data when attempting to measure discord and political rancor within a state. Partisanship and polarization can factor in to the overall sense of discord, but other roles such as unhappiness from or anger between groups in society can play a role in discord as well. The limited data and lack of research on the topic made it difficult to operationalize discord. It may also be the case that, if a state is more politically-divided and social studies could be a remedy to this issue, it can be more difficult to those divided states to pass legislation that could help to ameliorate tensions within the state.

A clear limitation to examining party affiliation is that, even though citizens and legislatures identify as either Democratic or Republican, this does not necessarily measure their support of a liberal or conservative policy agenda. For example, Republican lawmakers in the state of Rhode Island, a very liberal state, are probably significantly more liberal than Republican lawmakers in the state of Tennessee, a very conservative state. Party affiliation does not necessarily reflect political ideology or measure ideological differences. Also, many other social variables such as race and socioeconomic status could have been taken into account.

A limitation of this content analysis used to identify the keywords that imply civic engagement, civil discourse, and diverse cultural values is that, rather than sorting through and evaluating all relevant state education policy regarding social studies curriculum, only the Education Commission of the States fifty-state comparison of civic education policies was evaluated. The Education Commission of the States and the National Center for Learning and Civic Engagement periodically review state statute, administrative code, standards and curriculum to capture the status of civic learning across the United States (Education Commission of the States 2016).

While the commission made access to civic education data by individual state more readily available, it limits my ability to accurately scrutinize the individual laws and statues of each state, and prevents me from making judgements on education policy the commission may have left out that may have been relevant to the content I was searching for. The committee, however, seems to have adequately scanned the education policy for any mentions of civics and social studies education.

An assumption that the commission did an adequate job collecting all relevant social studies and civics curriculum was made, so the analysis of the statutes, administrative codes, or curriculum and standards frameworks was subjective. Each states' laws were sorted through to identify intentional mentions of the social studies outcomes. Context and intent behind the curriculum were searched for, but the content analysis certainly could have been hindered by biases and simple human error.

Conclusions

The tests show that there is some level of association between the political environment of a state and its promotion of two diverse cultural values in its social studies curriculum: civil discourse and consideration for others. Whether the level of political division or dominant political persuasion in a state's population or legislature shapes the emphasis of certain curriculum goals, or if those curriculum goals helped to shape a state's political environment is unclear. A larger population size is also correlated to the increased likelihood of the promotion of civil discourse a curriculum goal. The data help to reinforce the idea that much more needs to be understood in trying to determine how we can go about educating the next generation to be more tolerant and understanding of diverse populations—the political factors of a state might have some relevance in promoting these values in social studies education, but there are probably several other factors that might also contribute.

There are more reasons to continue a study examining the nature of social division and social studies curriculum. The social divisions mentioned earlier in the review of the literature include religion, socioeconomic status, and race or ethnicity—all which might also play a role in the social studies curriculum students are learning in public school.

The difficulty of this study and insignificant results remind us that, in order to quell national discord, we must examine the few states that have done something right and apply what we can to the states with populations that are still bitterly divided socially and politically. Much of the success of states in promoting diverse cultural values in their social studies and civics curriculum could have been due to specific situational factors or other social factors that were not covered under this study. The issue of social and political division cannot only be solved through education, and we may not see the results of an improved education system in the social and political discourse of our generation and previous generations, but, by examining cases in schools in which students are learning to recognize the issues that are causing our division and learning to discuss and engage with them in a civil manner, or by comparing the successes in schools that have prioritized diverse cultural values in their social studies curriculum with schools that have not, there might just be hope for fortified social cohesion in the U.S.

References

- "50-State Comparison: Civic Education Policies." Education Commission of the States. (2016).
- "2017 State & Legislative Partisan Composition." National Conference of State Legislatures. (2018).
- "2017 U.S. Party Affiliation by State." Gallup, Inc. (2017).
- Alesina, Alberto, Edward Glaeser, and Bruce Sacerdote. "Why Doesn't the United States Have a European-Style Welfare State?" Brookings Papers on Economic Activity 2001, no. 2 (2001): 187-254. http://www.jstor.org/stable/1209137.
- Alesina, Alberto, Stefanie Stantcheva, Edoardo Teso. "Intergenerational Mobility and Support for Redistribution." American Economic Review [also NBER Working Paper 23027] 108 (2): 521-554. (2018).
- "Americans' Knowledge of the Branches of Government Is Declining." The Annenberg Public Policy Center of the University of Pennsylvania. (2017). https://www.annenbergpublicpolicycenter.org/
- Balz, Dan. "A divided country gets a divisive election." The Washington Post. (2016).
- Bennett, W. Lance. "The Personalization of Politics: Political Identity, Social Media, and Changing Patterns of Participation." The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 644 (2012): 20-39. http://www.jstor.org/stable/23316140.
- Bernstein, Mary. "Identity Politics." Annual Review of Sociology 31 (2005): 47-74. http://www.jstor.org/stable/29737711.
- Blumenfeld, Emily R. "Reflections on student journals and teaching about inequality." Journal of Poetry Therapy 23, no. 2 (2010): 101-106.
- Bonilla, Yarimar, and Jonathan Rosa. "# Ferguson: Digital protest, hashtag ethnography, and the racial politics of social media in the United States." American Ethnologist 42, no. 1 (2015): 4-17.
- Boyd, Karen D., and Sarah Brackmann. "Promoting civic engagement to educate institutionally for personal and social responsibility." New Directions for Student Services 2012, no. 139 (2012): 39-50.
- Bradshaw, R. Darden. "Art integration fosters empathy in the middle school classroom." The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas 89, no. 4-5 (2016): 109-117.
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. Volunteering in the United States, 2015. (2015). www.bls.gov.
- Campbell, David E., and Robert D. Putnam. "America's grace: how a tolerant nation bridges its religious divides." Political Science Quarterly 126, no. 4 (2011): 611-640.
- Capaldi, Nicholas. "The Pathology of Identity Politics." Academic Questions 31, no. 3 (2018): 281-288.
- Carney, D. R., Jost, J. T., Gosling, S. D., and Potter, J. The Secret Lives of Liberals and Conservatives: Personality Profiles, Interaction Styles, and the Things They Leave Behind. Political Psychology, 29(6), 807-840. (2008). doi:10.1111/j.1467-9221.2008.00668.x

Carter, Prudence L. "Educational equity demands empathy." Contexts 14, no. 4 (2015): 76-78. Caruso, Catherine. "Counting American Protests." Trustees of Boston University. (2017).

- Citrin, Jack, Richard Johnston, and Matthew Wright. "Do Patriotism and Multiculturalism Collide? Competing Perspectives from Canada and the United States." Canadian Journal of Political Science / Revue Canadienne De Science Politique 45, no. 3 (2012): 531-52. http://www.jstor.org/stable/23320998.
- Cochran-Smith, Marilyn, Karen Shakman, Cindy Jong, Dianna G. Terrell, Joan Barnatt, and Patrick McQuillan. "Good and just teaching: The case for social justice in teacher education." American Journal of Education 115, no. 3 (2009): 347-377.
- Coghlan, Catherine L., and Denise W. Huggins. ""That's not fair!": A simulation exercise in social stratification and structural inequality." Teaching Sociology 32, no. 2 (2004): 177-187.
- Cozzarelli, Catherine, Anna V. Wilkinson, and Michael J. Tagler. "Attitudes toward the poor and attributions for poverty." Journal of social issues 57, no. 2 (2001): 207-227.
- Davis, Nancy J. "Teaching about inequality: Student resistance, paralysis, and rage." Teaching Sociology (1992): 232-238.
- Deckman, M. School Board Candidates and Gender: Ideology, Party, and Policy Concerns. Journal of Women, Politics and Policy, 28(1), 87. (2006). doi:10.1300/J501v28n01_05
- Diggins, John Patrick. "The national history standards." The American Scholar 65, no. 4 (1996): 495-522.
- Di Meo, Andreas. "Ethnocultural empathy in relation to social dominance orientation, right-wing authoritarianism, hypersensitive narcissism and overt narcissism." PhD diss., ProQuest Information & Learning, (2007).
- Doherty, Carroll. "Key takeaways on Americans' growing partisan divide over political values." Pew Research Center. (2017).
- Erickson, Lynnette B. "Civic Engagement in Teacher Education: Activities or Obligation?." Teacher Education and Practice 24, no. 3 (2011): 330-332
- Forestiere, Carolyn. "Promoting Civic Agency Through Civic-Engagement Activities: A Guide for Instructors New to Civic-Engagement Pedagogy." Journal of Political Science Education 11, no. 4 (2015): 455-471.
- Foster, Carly Hayden. "The welfare queen: Race, gender, class, and public opinion." Race, Gender & Class (2008): 162-179.
- Garoutte, Lisa, and Donna Bobbitt-Zeher. "Changing students' perceptions of inequality? Combining traditional methods and a budget exercise to facilitate a sociological perspective." Teaching Sociology 39, no. 3 (2011): 227-243.
- Gilens, Martin. "Why Americans hate welfare: race, media, and the politics of antipoverty policy." Chicago: University of Chicago Press. (1999).

- Gillion, Daniel Q. "Protest and Congressional Behavior: Assessing Racial and Ethnic Minority Protests in the District." The Journal of Politics 74, no. 4 (2012): 950-62. doi:10.1017/s0022381612000539.
- Gjelten, Tom. "For Evangelicals, A Year of Reckoning on Sexual Sin and Support for Donald Trump." National Public Radio (NPR). (2018).
- Golden, John, and Linda Christensen. "A conversation with Linda Christensen on social justice education." English Journal (2008): 59-64.
- Gonino, Leanna. "Blacks' and Whites' Attitudes toward Race-Based Policies: Is there an Obama Effect?." Michigan Sociological Review 31 (2017): 173-188.
- Gopnik, Alison, Thomas L. Griffiths, and Christopher G. Lucas. "When younger learners can be better (or at least more open-minded) than older ones." Current Directions in Psychological Science 24, no. 2 (2015): 87-92.
- Greene, Stuart. "Introduction: Teaching for Social Justice." Counterpoints 316 (2008): 1-25. http://www.jstor.org/stable/42979836.
- Han, K. J. The Impact of Radical Right-Wing Parties on the Positions of Mainstream Parties Regarding Multiculturalism. West European Politics, 38(3), 557-576. (2015). doi:10.1080/01402382.2014.981448
- Harrison, Lawrence E. "The End of Multiculturalism." The National Interest, no. 93 (2008): 88-96. http://www.jstor.org/stable/42897687.
- Hawley, Willis D., and Anthony Wells Ed Jackson. Toward a common destiny: Improving race and ethnic relations in America. Jossey-Bass, (1995).
- Helgeson, Jeffrey. "American Labor and Working-Class History, 1900–1945." (2016).
- Hines, Joseph. By Almost Every Metric, the Wealthy Engage Much More in American Politics. Demos. (2014). www.demos.org.
- Hopkins, Daniel J. "Racial Contexts' Enduring Influence on Attitudes Toward Poverty." Social Science Quarterly 90, no. 3 (2009): 770-776.
- Hussey, Laura S., and Shanna Pearson-Merkowitz. "The Changing Role of Race in Social Welfare Attitude Formation: Partisan Divides over Undocumented Immigrants and Social Welfare Policy." Political Research Quarterly 66, no. 3 (2013): 572-84. http://www.jstor.org/stable/23563166.
- Janmaat, Jan G., and Avril Keating. "Are Today's Youth More Tolerant? Trends in Tolerance among Young People in Britain." Ethnicities 19, no. 1 (February 2019): 44–65. doi:10.1177/1468796817723682.
- Jennings, Jay T. "Mixed Reactions: How Religious Motivation Explains Responses to Religious Rhetoric in Politics." Political Research Quarterly 69, no. 2 (2016): 295-308. http://www.jstor.org/stable/44018011.
- Johnson, M. Getting Multiculturalism Right: Deontology and the Concern for Neutrality. Open Cultural Studies, 1(1), 32-45. (2017).
- Justice, Benjamin, and Jason Stanley. "Teaching in the time of Trump." Social Education 80, no. 1 (2016): 36-41.

- Kahne, Joseph, Bernadette Chi, and Ellen Middaugh. "Building Social Capital for Civic and Political Engagement: The Potential of High-School Civics Courses." Canadian Journal of Education / Revue Canadienne De L'éducation 29, no. 2 (2006): 387-409. doi:10.2307/20054169.
- Khalid, Asma. "Millennials Now Rival Boomers as A Political Force, But Will They Actually Vote?." National Public Radio. (2016).
- Kiley, Jocelyn. "In polarized era, fewer Americans hold a mix of conservative and liberal views." Pew Research Center (2017).
- Lee, M., and Coulehan, J. Medical students' perceptions of racial diversity and gender equality. (2006). Medical Education, 40(7), 691-696.
- Liu, J. Religion, Moral Values and the Democratic Party. Pew Research Center. (2006). http://www.pewforum.org/2006/05/22/religion-moral-values-and-the-democratic-party/
- Louie, Belinda. "Development of empathetic responses with multicultural literature." Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy48, no. 7 (2005): 566-578.
- McAvoy, Paula, and Diana Hess. "Classroom deliberation in an era of political polarization." Curriculum Inquiry 43, no. 1 (2013): 14-47.
- Merino, Stephen M. "Religious diversity in a "Christian nation": The effects of theological exclusivity and interreligious contact on the acceptance of religious diversity." Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion 49, no. 2 (2010): 231-246.
- Mindes, Gayle. "Social Studies in Today's Early Childhood Curricula." YC Young Children 60, no. 5 (2005): 12-18. http://www.jstor.org/stable/42729278.
- Nash, Gary B., and Ross E. Dunn. "National History Standards: Controversy and Commentary." Social Studies Review 34, no. 2 (1995): 4-12.
- Nkomo, Stella, and Jenny M. Hoobler. "A historical perspective on diversity ideologies in the United States: Reflections on human resource management research and practice." Human Resource Management Review 24, no. 3 (2014): 245-257.
- Nye, Malory. "The challenges of multiculturalism." (2007): 109-123.
- Panke, Stefanie, and John Stephens. "Beyond the Echo Chamber: Pedagogical Tools for Civic Engagement Discourse and Reflection." Journal of Educational Technology & Society21, no. 1 (2018): 248-263.
- "The Partisan Divide in Political Values Grows Even Wider." Pew Research Center. 2017980-. (2017).
- "Political ideology by state." Pew Research Center. (2014).
- Prasad, Monica. "PROGRESSIVE TAXATION AND THE WELFARE STATE." In the Land of Too Much, 148-72. Cambridge, Massachusetts; London, England: Harvard University Press. (2012). http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt2jbvk7.10.
- Presidential Approval Ratings -- Donald Trump. Gallup. (2019).
- Quadagno, Jill S. "The color of welfare: how racism undermined the war on poverty." New York: Oxford University Press. (1994)

- Ravitch, Diane. "The Controversy over National History Standards." Bulletin of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences 51, no. 3 (1998): 14-28. doi:10.2307/3824089.
- Rickford, Russell. "Black lives matter: Toward a modern practice of mass struggle." In New Labor Forum, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 34-42. Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications, (2016).
- Rodden, J. The Perversity of "Diversity". Society, 47(1), 3. (2010). doi:10.1007/s12115-009-9274-x
- Rodgers Jr, Harrell R. "The multidimensionality of public opinion about poverty and welfare populations." Social Science Quarterly 90, no. 3 (2009): 765-769.
- Rogers, John, and Joel Westheimer. "Teaching About Economic Inequality in a Diverse Democracy: Politics, Ideology, and Difference." PS: Political Science & Politics 50, no. 4 (2017): 1049-1055.
- Rushin, Stephen, and Griffin Sims Edwards. "The Effect of President Trump's Election on Hate Crimes." *Available at SSRN 3102652* (2018).
- Saad, L. Jeffery M. Jones, and Megan Brenan. (2018). "Understanding Shifts in Democratic Party Ideology." Gallup.
- Sciupac, Elizabeth P., and Gregory A. Smith. "How religious groups voted in the midterm elections." Pew Research Center. (2018). www.pewresearch.org
- Scott, Eugene. "More than Half of White Evangelicals Say America's Declining White Population Is a Negative Thing." The Washington Post. (2018). https://www.washingtonpost.com
- Shapiro, Sarah, and Catherine Brown. "The State of Civics Education." Center for American Progress. (2018). https://www.americanprogress.org
- Sherkat, Darren E. "Religious Identification and Politics in the United States." In Changing Faith: The Dynamics and Consequences of Americans Shifting Religious Identities, 145-73. New York; London: NYU Press. (2014). http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt9qfz3c.9.
- Shor, Boris. "Aggregate State Legislator Shor-McCarty Ideology Data. Harvard Dataverse, V2. (2018). https://doi.org/10.7910/DVN/BSLEFD
- Smith, Jeffrey A., Miller McPherson, and Lynn Smith-Lovin. "Social Distance in the United States: Sex, Race, Religion, Age, and Education Homophily among Confidants, 1985 to 2004." American Sociological Review 79, no. 3 (2014): 432-56. http://www.jstor.org/stable/43187548.
- Smith, Tom W., Davern, Michael, Freese, Jeremy, and Hout, Michael, General Social Surveys, 1972-2016 [machine-readable data file] /Principal Investigator, Smith, Tom W.; Co-Principal Investigators, Peter V. Marsden and Michael Hout; Sponsored by National Science Foundation. --NORC ed.-- Chicago: NORC, 2018: NORC at the University of Chicago [producer and distributor]. Data accessed from the GSS Data Explorer website at gssdataexplorer.norc.org.
- Smith, Kevin B., and Alan Greenblatt. Governing States and Localities: The Essentials. Los Angeles: SAGE/CQ Press. (2015).

- "SPLC report: U.S. education on American slavery sorely lacking." Southern Poverty Law Center. (2018).
- Sprague-Jones, J. Extreme right-wing vote and support for multiculturalism in Europe. Ethnic and Racial Studies, 34(4), 535-555. (2011). doi:10.1080/01419870.2010.512665
- Spring, Joel H. American Education. New York: McGraw-Hill. (2012).
- Steck, Laura West, Jennifer N. Engler, Mary Ligon, Perri B. Druen, and Erin Cosgrove. "Doing poverty: Learning outcomes among students participating in the community action poverty simulation program." Teaching Sociology 39, no. 3 (2011): 259-273.
- Taylor, Monica, and Gennifer Otinsky. "Chapter Four: What Does Social Justice Have to Do with Us? Sixth Graders and Pre-Service Teachers Inquire Collaboratively." Counterpoints235 (2007): 65-83.
- U.S. Census Bureau. Median Household Income by State: 1984 to 2017. (2017). www.census.gov
- U.S. Census Bureau. "Table 1. Annual Estimates of the Resident Population for the United States, Regions, States, and Puerto Rico: April 1, 2010 to July 1, 2016. (2016). www.census.gov
- Vandermaas-Peeler, Alex, Daniel Cox, Maxine Najle, Molly Fisch-Friedman, Rob Griffin, Robert P. Jones. Partisanship Trumps Gender: Sexual Harassment, Woman Candidates, Access to Contraception, and Key Issues in 2018 Midterms. Public Religion Research Institute. (2018).
- Von Blum, Paul. "In defense of identity politics." Tikkun 28, no. 4 (2013): 23-27.
- Walters, Suzanna Danuta. "In defense of identity politics." Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society 43, no. 2 (2018): 473-488.
- Wukich, Clayton, and Michael D. Siciliano. "Problem solving and creativity in public policy courses: Promoting interest and civic engagement." Journal of Political Science Education 10, no. 3 (2014): 352-368.
- Zajda, Joseph, Suzanne Majhanovich, and Val Rust. "Introduction: Education and social justice." International Review of Education 52, no. 1-2 (2007): 9-22.